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Honorable Mayor,
Members of the City Council and
Citizens of the City of Athens, Tennessee

State law requires that all general-purpose local governments publish within six months of the close of
each fiscal year a complete set of financial statements presented in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) and an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards by a firm
of licensed certified public accountants. Pursuant to that requirement, we hereby issue the comprehensive
annual financial report of the City of Athens for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010.

This report consists of management’s representations concerning the finances of the City of Athens.
Consequently, management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of all of the
information presented in this report. To provide a reasonable basis for making these representations,
management of the City of Athens has established a comprehensive internal control framework that is
designed both to protect the city’s assets from loss, theft, or misuse and to compile sufficient reliable -
information for the preparation of the City of Athens’ financial statements in conformity with GAAP.
Because the cost of internal controls should not outweigh their benefits, the City of Aihens’
comprehensive framework of internal controls has been designed to provide reasonable rather than
absolute assurance that the financial statements will be free from material misstatement. As management,
we assert that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in all
material respects.

The City of Athens’ financial statements have been audited by Neal, Scouten and McConnell, P.C., a
firm of licensed certified public accountants. The goal of the independent audit was to provide reasonable
assurance that the financial statements of the City of Athens, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, are
free of material misstatement. The independent audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements; assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management; and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. The independent auditor concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis
for rendering an unqualified opinion that the City of Athens’ financial statements, for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2010, are fairly presented in conformity with GAAP. The independent auditor’s report is.
presented as the first component of the financial section of this report. ' '

GAAP require that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to
accompany the basic financial statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis
(MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in
conjunction with it. The City of Athens’ MD&A can be found immediately following the report of the
independent auditors.
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PROFILE OF THE CITY OF ATHENS

The City of Athens, incorporated in 1891, is located in the southeastern part of the state, midway
between the metropolitan cities of Knoxville and Chattanooga. This unique location affords the citizens
of the City of Athens the ability to quickly access the amenities of two metropolitan areas. In addition, its
proximity to the mountains of east Tennessee, the Tennessee River, and whitewater rafting makes it
attractive to a wide range of individuals. The City of Athens serves a population of 13,334 and occupies a
land area of approximately 14 square miles.

The City of Athens operates under the council-manager form of government, as authorized under
Chapter 455 of the Private Acts of 1953. The five council members are elected at large. All elections are
non-partisan, and the terms are for four years. Elections are held every two years on the first Tuesday in
November so that only two or three seats are up for election at any given time. The council members
select the Mayor and Vice-Mayor every two years at the council meeting in November, following the
election. Policy-making and legislative authority are vested in the council. The council is responsible,
among other things, for passing ordinances, adopting the budget, appointing committees, hiring the city
manager, and appointing the city attorney and city judge. The city manager is responsible for carrying out
the policies and ordinances of the city council, for overseeing the city’s day-to-day operations, and for
appointing the heads of the various departments.

The city provides a full range of services which include police and fire protection; sanitation services;
the construction and maintenance of highways, streets, and infrastructure; recreational activities and
cultural events. In addition to general government activities; the governing body appoints the Athens
Utilities Board and approves the annual budget and debt issues for the Athens City Schools; therefore,
these activities are reported separately within the financial statements of the City of Athens. However, the
Athens Housing Authority, the McMinn County Economic Development Authority, the E. G. Fisher
Library, and the Athens Health and Educational Facilities Board have not met the established criteria for
inclusion; and, accordingly, are excluded from this report.

. The annual budget serves as the foundation for the City of Athens’ financial planning and control.
The council reviews capital outlay needs each year at their annual retreat in January/February. The
finance department compiles budgetary information to be distributed to the departments by February 28.
Budget requests are submitted to the finance director in March, at which time the finance department
compiles the data and makes revenue estimates. Budget hearings are held in April of each year with the
department heads. In early May, the City Manager and/or Director of Finance makes a formal balanced
budget presentation to the city council. :

After much review and debate among the council, the budget is revised to include any
recommendations of the city council. A revised budget is submitted to city council at the May council
meeting. The council is required to hold a public hearing on the proposed budget and to adopt a final
budget and tax rate by June 30 each year, which is the close of the city’s fiscal year. The appropriated
budget is prepared by fund, function (e.g., public safety), department (e.g., police) and division (e.g.,
patrol). Department heads may make transfers within a division, but transfers of appropriations between
divisions and funds require approval of the city council. Budget to actual comparisons are provided in
this report for each governmental fund for which an appropriated annual budget has been adopted.
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Local Economy

Major industries located within the city include several automotive parts suppliers, manufacturers of
electrical components and plastics, and a producer of dairy products.

The unemployment rate has varied over the past decade. In 2000, the rate was 4.4 percent, with the
highest rate being 14.9 percent in 2009 and the lowest rate being 5.9 percent. During the past ten years,
Denso Manufacturing has grown from a vacant parcel of land to an employer of approximately 8§90
individuals.

During the past ten years, the government's expenses related to education have generally increased in
both percentage and amount. This is due to the increased state funding for The Basic Education Program
(BEP), funding for renovations and an increase in sales tax collections.

During the same ten-year period, taxes and intergovernmental revenues have increased in both
amount and percentage. Property tax collections have grown because of the growth of Denso and
personal property tax growth throughout the entire city. Sales taxes have also grown, but fiscal year
ended June 30, 2010 saw a decline from previous years due to the current economic conditions. Athens
still accounts for approximately 80 percent of sales tax collections within McMinn County.
Intergovernmental increases this fiscal year are a result of increased grant revenues.

Long-Term Financial Planning
Unreserved, undesignated fund balance in the general fund (60 percent of total general fund

revenues) has continued to grow over the past ten years. The policy has been to maintain approximately 2
to 3 months of expenditures in fund balance (approximately 17 to 25 percent). In past years the excess

- has typically been transferred to the capital improvement fund to accumulate funds for large capital items

- and grant matching funds. These funds are currently being held in the general fund and will be
transferred to the capital improvement fund to be used for such items as identified by the council.

The city has identified approximately $34,000,000 in capital funding items. The policy for the city
has been to fund many of these types of projects with grant monies or the funds accumulated in the capital
improvement fund. The City is anticipating the development of a new road at the Athens Regional Park,
the construction of projects at Market Park and Exit 49, the completion of a sewer collection system and
sewer line rehabilitation in the Mt. Verd area and the North Mouse Creek watershed restoration project
and various other projects. The total cost is estimated to be $2,000,000 and is funded primarily by federal
and state grants.

Significant Financial Policies

The global economy, and in particular the United States economy have suffered significantly over the
past two to three years. This economic downturn has also affected municipalities, with the City of Athens
being no exception. The City has responded to a decrease in revenues by consistently looking for ways to trim
expenditures. The 2009-2010 budget reduced expenditures by 3.9 percent, while the 2010-2011 budget
further reduced expenditures by 4.5 percent. Also, a detailed multi-year revenue trend analysis is utilized to
assist in the budget process. The City’s policy is to balance its budget annually without using reserves, and to
budget conservatively in the process.
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Cash Management Policies and Practices

Cash temporarily idle during the year was invested in the State Treasurer's investment pool. The City
uses a three-year rotation for banking services, but maintains a minimal balance in its checking account and
works to negotiate a higher interest rate on idle cash from other local banks. This allows a higher interest rate
to sometimes be earned on funds for a maximum period of time. When interest rates are not favorable at local
banks, the investment pool is used.

Major Initiatives

Several transportation-related projects are expected to begin during the next several years. These
include a traffic safety project at Rocky Mount Road and Dennis Street, which will be funded with federal
highway funds. The state is in the planning process for widening Highway 30 between Athens and
Etowah to a four lane highway. Construction is expected to begin in 2012. It is expected that traffic will
increase in the city as a result of this and may require changes and upgrades to the streets and
signalizations over future years. The city and McMinn County have been in discussions with the State of

. Tennessee concerning the location of a bypass to improve traffic flow in the area. Having funded a new
position in the fire department and purchased a new combination pumper/ladder fire truck, the City
continues to review capital and personnel needs for the fire department.

Awards and Acknowledgements

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada(GFOA) awarded a
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Athens for its comprehensive
annual financial report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009. This was the eighteenth consecutive
year that the city has received this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, the
city published an easily readable and efficiently organized CAFR. This report satisfied both GAAP and
applicable legal requirements. N

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current
CAFR continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement program’s requirements and we are submitting it
to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate.

The preparation of this CAFR on a timely basis was made possible by the dedicated service of the
entire staff of the finance and administration departments. Credit must also be given to the mayor, city
council, and the city manager for their unfailing support for maintaining the highest standards of
professionalism in the management of the City of Athens’ finances.

Respectfully submitted,

B

Brad Harris
Director of Finance

December 22, 2010
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Certificate of
Achievement
for Excellence
in Financial
Reporting

Presented to

City of Athens
Tennessee

For its Comprehensive Annual
~ Financial Report
- for the Fiscal Year Ended
June 30, 2009

A Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial
Reporting is presented by the Government Finance Officers
Association of the United States and Canada to
government units and public employee retirement
systems whose comprehensive annual financial
reports (CAFRs) achieve the highest
standards in government accounting
and financial reporting.

A-5



CITIZENS RECREATION
ADVISORY ADVISORY
COUNCIL BOARD
BOARD
OF —
EDUCATION
CITY COUNCIL
HOUSING
AUTHORITY 'BEER BOARD
HEALTH/ PLANNING
EDUCATION COMMISION
FACILITIES
ZONING LIBRARY
APPEALS COMMITTEE
UTILITIES ADJUSTMENTS
BOARD AND
‘ APPEALS
KEEP
MCMINN -
BEAUTIFUL
| |
CITY ATTORNEY CITY MANAGER CITY JUDGE
ni | [
POLICE i COMMUNITY
COMMUNICATIONS HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
FINANCE
PURCHASING PUBLIC WORKS RECREATION




CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
LIST OF PRINCIPAL OFFICIALS

June 30, 2010
City of Athens
R. Hal Buttram Mayor
William Bo Perkinson Vice-Mayor
Ann Davis Council Member
Shane Jackson Council Member
Dick Pelley Council Member
Mitchell B. Moore City Manager
H. Chris Trew City Attorney
Donald E. (Trey) Winder City Judge
Rita C. Brown Director of Human Resources
Anthony Casteel Director of Community Development
Jim Dyer Fire Chief
Austin Fesmire Director of Parks & Recreation
Brad Harris Director of Finance
Shawn Lindsay Director of Public Works
Charles T. Zeigler Police Chief
Athens City Board of Education
Michael L. Bevins Chairman
Chris Liner Vice-Chairman
Jim Nelson Secretary
Harold Powers Treasurer
Brian Heatherly Board Member
Chris Adams Board Member
Robert Greene Director of Schools
Becky Simpson Supervisor of Instruction
Pete Harrell Supervisor of Transportation
Janey Morris Supervisor of Special Education and Federal Projects
Yvonne Raper Supervisor of Food Services
Eddie Arnold Supervisor of Maintenance
Diane Frank Supervisor of Financial Services
Athens Utilities Board
R. Carter Runyan Chairman
William Bo Perkinson Vice-Chairman
Linda Derrick Board Member
Lou Pascarella Board Member
Stan Harrison Board Member
Eric Newberry Gener%il Manager
Doug Rodgers Superintendent of Accounting
Larry Monteen Superintendent of Power
Sherree Reed Superintendent of Gas
Jill Davis Superintendent of Water/Wastewater
Wayne Scarbrough Director of Communications
Phyllis Lunceford Director of Management Services



FINANCIAL SECTION



NEAL, ScouteN & McConngLL, P.C.
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
633 Chestnut Street
Suite 1440 Republic Centre
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37450-1440

Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants
on Financial Statements

To the City Council
City of Athens
Athens, Tennessee

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the City of Athens, Tennessee, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2010,
which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the City of Athens, Tennessee's management. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material ‘
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
the significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate
discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the
City of Athens, Tennessee, as of June 30, 2010, and the respective changes in financial position, and cash
flows, where applicable, thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund for the year
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
December 22, 2010, on our consideration of the City of Athens, Tennessee's internal control over financial
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion
on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the
results of our audit.

Telephone: (423) 267-4400 -1- Fax: (423) 266-2444



Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management's discussion and analysis on pages B-1 — B-9 and other required supplemental information
on page 51 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who
- considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to
the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries,
the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the
limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the City of Athens, Tennessee’s financial statements as a whole. The introductory
section, combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements on pages 52-53, the budgetary
comparison schedules on pages 54-55, the statistical section and the financial schedules are presented for
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements. The accompanying
schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as
required by U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local
Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, and is also not a required part of the financial statements.
The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, the budgetary comparison schedules,
the financial schedules, and the schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards are the responsibility
of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion,
the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole.
The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on it.

A/M/ )/"“Z:Nf,ﬂ?_fwe L.

Chattanooga, Tennessee
December 22, 2010



City of Athens, Tennessee
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
: June 30, 2010

As management of the City of Athens, we offer readers of the city’s financial statements this narrative
overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Athens for the fiscal year ended June 30,
2010. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional
information that we have furnished in our letter of transmittal, which can be found in pages A-1 to A-4 of

this report.
Financial Highlights

e The assets of the City of Athens exceeded its liabilities at June 30, 2010 by $27,722,344 (net
assets). Of this amount, $10,418,347 (unrestricted net assets) may be used to meet the city’s
ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.

e Net assets increased by $2,572,568, an increase of 10.2% compared to fiscal year 2009. The City
of Athens’ changes in net assets is detailed in the chart on page B-6 of this report. Total revenues
increased $3,640,190, primarily due to an increase in grant revenues, including pass-through
grants and property taxes. Expenses increased $2,996,388 primarily due to pass-through grants.

e As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City of Athens’ governmental funds reported
combined ending fund balances of $15,858,867. Only 24.2% is reserved for specific purposes,
and the remaining 75.8%, or $12,025,868, is available for spending at the city’s discretion
(unreserved fund balance).

e At the end of the current fiscal year, unreserved fund balance for the general fund was $7,645,767
or 70% of total general fund expenditures. Expenditures do not include transfers to other funds,
which totaled $1,790,000 in the city’s general fund.

Overview of the Financial Statements '

This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction of the City of Athens’ basic financial
statements. The City of Athens’ basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government-
wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This
report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements

themselves.

Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to
provide readers with a broad overview of the City of Athens’ finances, in a manner similar to a private-
sector business. :

The statement of net assets presents information on all of the City of Athens’ assets and liabilities, with
the difference between the two reported as net assets. Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may
serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City of Athens is improving or
deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net assets changed during

the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving
rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are
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City of Athens, Tennessee
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2010

reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g.,
uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City of Athens that are
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other
functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and
charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the City of Athens include general
government, public safety, highways and streets, education, economic development, and culture and
recreation. The business-type activities of the City of Athens include the Conference Center Fund and the

Sanitation Fund.

The government-wide financial statements include not only the City of Athens itself (which is the primary
government), but also the legally separate entities Athens Board of Education and Athens Utilities Board.
However, the Athens Housing Authority, the McMinn County Economic Development Authority, the E.
G. Fisher Library, and the Athens Health and Educational Facilities Board are not legal entities of the City
of Athens, and, accordingly are excluded from this report.

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 3-4 of this report.

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Athens, like other
state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements. All of the funds of the City of Athens can be divided into three categories:
governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term
inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at
the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term
financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and governmental fund statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between
governmental funds and governmental activities.

The City of Athens maintains six individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in
the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures,
and changes in fund balances for the general fund, the capital improvement fund and the debt service
fund, which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other three governmental funds are
combined into a single aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor
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City of Athens, Tennessee

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2010

governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements later in this report beginning on page
51.

The City of Athens adopts an annual appropriated budget for its governmental funds. A budgetary
comparison statement has been provided for the general fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget.

The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 5-8 of this report.

Proprietary funds. The City of Athens maintains two different types of proprietary funds: enterprise
funds and internal service funds. Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as
business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The City of Athens uses enterprise
funds to account for its Southeast Tennessee Trade and Conference Center operations and sanitation
services. Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally
among the City of Athens’ various functions. The City of Athens uses an internal service fund to account
for its fleet of vehicles. Because this service predominantly benefits governmental rather than business-
type functions, it has been included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial
statements.

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only
in more detail. The proprietary funds financial statements provide separate information for the Southeast
Tennessee Trade and Conference Center operations and sanitation fund, both of which are considered to
be major funds of the City of Athens. Since there is only one internal service fund, it is presented in the
proprietary fund financial statement.

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 13-15 of this report.

Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside
the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statement because the
resources of those funds are not available to support the City of Athens’ own programs. The accounting
used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds.

Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to
the financial statements can be found on pages 18-49 of this report.

Other information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report
also presents certain required supplementary information concerning the City of Athens’ progress in
funding its obligation to provide pension benefits to its employees. Required supplementary information
can be found on pages 50 of this report.

The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental funds are

presented immediately following the required supplementary information on pensions. Combining and
individual fund statements and schedules can be found on pages 51-54 of this report.
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City of Athens, Tennessee
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2010

Government-wide Financial Analysis

As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position.
In the case of the City of Athens, assets exceeded liabilities by $27,722,344 at the close of this fiscal year.

The largest portion of the City of Athens net assets (49 percent) reflects its investment in capital assets
(e.g., land, buildings, machinery, and equipment), less any debt used to acquire those assets that is still
outstanding. The City of Athens uses these capital assets to provide services to its citizens; consequently
these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City of Athens’ investment in its capital
assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must
be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these
liabilities. Unrestricted net assets total 38 percent of net assets and may be used to meet the government’s
ongoing obligations to its citizens and creditors. The city has accumulated funds for capital project needs
as approved by Council and debt service. Restricted net assets comprise 13 percent of net assets. These
resources are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used.

At June 30, 2010, the City of Athens is able to report positive balances in all categories of net assets, both
for the government as a whole, as well as for its separate governmental and business-type activities and its
component units.

City of Athens
Net Assets
Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Current and other assets $26,387,320 $22,939,611 $§ 967,079 $ 1,160,878 $27,354,399 $24,100,489
Capital assets 12,210,372 11,565,341 1.548.913 1,373,417 13,759.285 12.938.758
Total assets 38.597.692 34,504.952 2,515,992 2.534.295 41,113,684 37,039,247
Long-term liabilities 6,152,081 6,751,972 - - 6,152,081 6,751,972
Other liabilities 7,211,109 5,115,919 28.150 21,580 7,239,259 5.137.499
Total liabilities 13,363,190 11,867,891 28.150 21,580 _13.391.340 11.889.471
Invested in capital assets,

net of related debt 12,210,372 11,060,041 1,548,913 1,373,417 13,759,285 12,433,458
Restricted 3,544,712 3,243,590 - - 3,544,712 3,243,590
Unrestricted 9.479.418 8.333.430 938,929 1,139.298 10.418.347 9,472,728
Net assets $25.234,502 $22.637.061 $ 2.487.842 $ 2,512,715 $27.,722344 $25,149.776

Governmental activities. Governmental activities increased the City of Athens’ net assets by
$2,597,441 which accounts for all of the total increase in the net assets of the City of Athens. The
majority of the increase in the governmental activities is due to an increase in grant funds and property
taxes, as well as overall cost-cutting measures that decreased expenditures.
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City of Athens, Tennessee

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

June 30,2010

Business-type activities. Business-type activities decreased the City of Athens’ net assets by $24,873.
This decrease was primarily the result of an increase in expenditures related to the automation of

residential refuse collection.

Key elements of this increase in net assets are as follows:

City of Athens
Changes in Net Assets
Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges for services $§ 670,200 $§ 770,799 $ 824350 $ 836,191 $ 1,494,550 $ 1,606,990
Operating grants and
contributions 682,455 571,555 - - 682,455 577,555
Capital grants and '
contributions 4,484,478 234,110 - - 4,484,478 234,110
General revenues:
Property taxes 4,433,632 4,334,558 - - 4,433,632 4,334,558
Other taxes 5,731,900 5,994,169 - - 5,731,900 5,994,169
Intergovernmental
revenues not restricted :
to specific programs 1,110,439 1,219,896 - - 1,110,439 1,219,896
Transfers - - 195,000 - - -
Other 171,664 519,250 44,788 27,188 216.452 546.438
Total revenues 17.284.768 _13.650.337 1,064,138 863,379 18,153,906 14,513,716
Expenses:
General government 2,504,213 2,490,960 - - 2,504,213 2,490,960
Public safety 4,224,580 4,461,884 - - 4,224,580 4,461,884
Highways and streets 1,644,740 1,998,281 - - 1,644,740 1,998,281
Culture and recreation 709,813 911,898 - - 709,813 911,898
Education 1,825,000 1,685,054 - - 1,825,000 1,685,054
Health and welfare 97,091 93,733 - — 97,091 93,733
Interest on long-term
debt 63,175 124,260 - - 63,175 124,260
Transfers 195,000 - - - 195,000 -
Passthrough grants 3,423,715 - - - 3,423,715 -
Conference center - - 64,782 74,287 64,782 74,287
Sanitation - - 1,024,229 744,393 1,024,229 744,393
Total expenses 14,687,327 11,766,070 1,089,011 818,680 _ 15,776,338 _ 12,584,750
Change in net assets 2,597,441 1,884,267 (24,873) 44,699 2,572,568 1,928,966
Net assets,
beginning of year 22,637,061 20,752,794 2,512,715 2,468.016 _25.149.776 _23.220.810
Net assets, end of year  $25.234,502 $22.637.061 $ 2.487.842 $ 2,512,715 $27.722.344 $25.149.776
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City of Athens, Tennessee
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2010

Financial Analysis of the City’s Fund

As noted earlier, the City of Athens’ uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with
finance-related legal requirements.

Governmental funds. The focus of the City of Athens’ governmental funds is to provide information on
near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing
the City of Athens’ financing requirements. The unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure
of a government’s net resources available at the end of the fiscal year for future unforeseen emergencies.

As of the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Athens’ governmental funds reported combined ending
fund balances of $15,858,867, an increase of $1,174,264 in comparison to the prior year. Approximately
75.8 percent of this total amount ($12,025,898) constitutes unreserved fund balance. The remainder of
fund balance is reserved to indicate that it is not available for spending because it has already been
committed. Within the governmental funds, $4,215 is reserved for encumbrances, $108,098 is reserved
for inventory, $171,024 is reserved for law enforcement and police benefit, $4,950 is reserved for NLC
Small Cities meeting, $144,596 is reserved for cemetery perpetual care, and $3,400,116 is reserved for
debt service.

The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City of Athens. At the end of the current fiscal year,
unreserved fund balance of the general fund was $7,645,767. As a measure of the general fund’s
liquidity, it may be useful to compare unreserved fund balance to total general fund expenditures.
Unreserved fund balance represents 70% of total fund expenditures, but represents 60.1% when compared
to total fund expenditures and transfers to other funds (e.g. debt service fund and capital projects fund).

The fund balance of the City of Athens’ general fund decreased by $76,836 during the current fiscal year.
The decrease in expenditures was greater than the decrease in revenues before considering transfers.
These transfers increased in this fiscal year by $1,000,000 compared to the previous year, accounting for
the overall decrease in the general fund.

The debt service fund has a total fund balance of $3,400,116. The net increase was $285,388, due to a
transfer from the general fund and a combined decrease in principal payments and interest expense. The
capital projects fund has a total fund balance of $4,178,331. The net increase was $936,943, due to a
transfer from the general fund as noted. The city continued to transfer $790,000 to the debt service fund
in the current year, and as noted transferred $1,000,000 to the capital projects fund.

Proprietary funds. The City of Athens’ proprietary funds provide the same type of information in the
government-wide financial statements, but with more detail.

Unrestricted net assets at the end of the year amounted to $3,264 for the conference center fund, $935,665
for the sanitation fund and $1,966,474 for the fleet management fund.
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City of Athens, Tennessee
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2010

General Fund Budgetary Highlights.

Differences between the original budget and the final amended budgeted expenditures were
approximately $244,100 and are summarized below:

$97,600 in miscellaneous increases in general government activities, related
primarily to legal and other professional services, special appropriations, city hall repairs and
maintenance as well as grant expenditures related to housing rehabilitation

$133,800 in miscellaneous increases in public safety, related primarily to fixed asset expenditures
in emergency communications and police services

$10,200 in miscellaneous increases in culture and recreation, related primarily to maintenance
projects

$2,500 in miscellaneous increases in public works, related primarily to projects
Final amended budgeted revenues exceeded actual revenues by $245,680 and are summarized below:
$147,287 decrease in property taxes and other local taxes
$11,793 increase in intergovernmental revenues
$54,203 decrease in interest income
$26,00;1 increase in fines and forfeitures
$81,987 decrease in miscellaneous revenues and charges for services

Final amended budgeted expenditures exceeded actual expenditures by $1,182,452 and are summarized
below:

$450,131 in general government expenditures, related primarily to administrative services, finance
and community development

$293,513 in public safety expenditures including police ($104,680), fire ($10‘5,905) and
communications ($82,928)

$299,258 in highways and streets primarily due to street maintenance and construction
$136,841 in parks and recreation primarily due to maintenance and program planning

$2,709 in Health and welfare expenditures



City of Athens, Tennessee
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2010

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital assets. The City of Athens’ investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type
fund activities as of June 30, 2010, amounts to $13,759,285 (net of accumulated depreciation). This
investment in capital assets includes land, buildings, other improvements, equipment, and infrastructure.
Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following:

Computer upgrades and equipment added approximately 2,000.

Central heat and air changeouts to City buildings added approximately $94,000.

Police department activities added approximately $190,000 in computer equipment and vehicles.

Fire department activities added approximately $2,000 in new equipment and vehicles.

Parks and recreation projects added approximately $150,000 in new equipment and infrastructure
projects.

Public works and sanitation added approximately $390,000 in equipment, vehicles and infrastructure
projects.

The City has construction-in-process of approximately $744,000 related to a sidewalk enhancement
project and other projects.

City of Athens
Capital Assets
Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
Buildings and '
improvements $ 5,199,617 $ 5,150,639 $ 1,517,930 $ 1,517,930 $ 6,717,547 $ 6,668,569
Infrastructure 7,452,975 6,580,297 - - 7,452,975 6,580,297
Furniture and office
equipment 1,065,657 1,044,461 29,864 29,864 1,095,521 1,074,325
Machinery and , : _
equipment 5,929,406 5,754,829 1,473,083 1,317,228 7,402,489 7,072,057
Land 2,563,167 2,563,167 34,500 34,500 2,597,667 2,597,667
Construction in progress 774,033 326,613 - - 774,033 326,613

$22,984.855 $21.420,006 $ 3,055377 $ 2.899.522 $26,040.232 $24.319.528

Additional information on the City of Athens’ capital assets can be found in Note 2 on pages 32-34 of this
report.
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Long-term debt. At the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Athens had no bonded debt
outstanding. The city has financed school projects through a loan from bond proceeds issued by the
Public Building Authority of the City of Clarksville, Tennessee. The balance outstanding for this 2003
note was $5,900,000. It is backed by the full faith and credit of the city. Detailed information on long-
term debt activity can be found in Note 3 on pages 35-37 of this report

State statutes do not limit the amount of general obligation bonded debt a governmental entity may issue.
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates

The unemployment rate for the City of Athens is currently 11.5 percent, which is an increase from the rate
of 10.3 percent a year ago. Athens’ rate is higher than the federal rate and the state rate.

Revenues were expected to decrease by approximately 4.9 percent due to decreases related to taxes, fines
and forfeits and investment income. Management has been conservative in estimating all revenues for
2010-2011 and expenditures decreased by 4.5percent. Budgeted expenditures were to decrease primarily
due to salaries and fringe benefits, travel and business tax payments to the state. The property tax rate
remained the same for 2010-2011.

Requests for Information
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Athens’ finances for all
those with an interest in the city’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this

report or requests for additional financial information may be addressed to the City of Athens, Office of
the Finance Director, Post Office Box 849, Athens, Tennessee 37371-0849.
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables:
Customers, net
Other
Property taxes, net
Interest
Other governments
Component units/primary government
Internal balances
Prepaid expenses
Inventories
Customer loans receivable
Restricted assets
Debt issue costs, net
Prepaid pension obligation
Capital assets, net of depreciation
Nondepreciable capital assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and withholdings
Due to component units/primary government
Interfund
Other current liabilities
Unearned revenues
Customer deposits
OPEB liability
Long-term liabilities:
Due within one year
Due in more than one year

Total liabilities

NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Restricted for:
Debt service
Cemetery perpetual care:
Expendable
Nonexpendable
Unrestricted

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

June 30, 2010
Component Units
Governmental Proprietary
Primary Government Athens Athens
Governmental Business-Type Board of Utilities
Activities Activities Total Education Board
$ 993413 $ 346,658 $ 1,340,071 $ 3,330,482 $ 19,031,861
15,359,894 924,950 16,284,844 - -
- 24,070 24,070 - 4,728,530
50,144 - 50,144 - 282,620
4,850,662 - 4,850,662 1,904,108 -
3,658,270 - 3,658,270 1,678,257 -
- 67,144 67,144 - 1,759,715
395,743 (395,743) - - 228,063
- - - - 600,804
108,098 - 108,098 30,101 2,313,062
- - - - 270,361
- - - - 83,112
18,025 - 18,025 - 146,942
953,071 - 953,071 - 150,893
8,873,172 1,514,413 10,387,585 6,158,173 82,843,837
3,337,200 34,500 3,371,700 213,486 7,706,610
$ 38,597,692 $2,515,992 $ 41,113,684 $13,314,607 $120,146,410
$ 446,053 $ 22,624 $ 468,677 $ 369,616 $ 5,728,798
145,218 5,526 150,744 916,933 -
2,109,655 - 2,109,655 - 68,221
- - - - 228,063
- - - - 620,018
4,510,183 - 4,510,183 1,768,852 29,950
- - - - 370,160
- - - 43,745 -
830,062 - 830,062 - 1,232,320
5,322,019 - 5,322,019 - 28,576,689
13,363,190 28,150 13,391,340 3,099,146 36,854,219
12,210,372 1,548,913 13,759,285 6,371,659 61,145,036
3,400,116 - 3,400,116 - 83,112
97,313 - 97,313 - -
47,283 - 47,283 - -
9,479,418 938,929 10,418,347 3,843,802 22,064,043
25,234,502 2,487,842 27,722,344 10,215,461 83,292,191
$ 38,597,692 $2,515,992 $ 41,113,684 $13,314,607 $120,146,410

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year Ended June 30, 2010
Net Revenues (Expenses) and Changes in Net Assets
Program Revenues Primary Government Component Units
Operating Capital Govern- Business- Athens Athens
Charges for Grants and Grants and mental type Board of Utilities
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total Education Board
Primary government:
Governmental activities: )
General government $ 2504213 § 68,970 § 33393 § - $ (2,401,850) $ - $ (2,401,850) $ - $ -
Public safety 4,224,580 490,614 183,907 - (3,550,059) - (3,550,059) - -
Highways and streets 1,644,740 - 378,624 35,761 (1,230,355) - (1,230,355) - -
Culture and recreation 709,813 107,617 1,000 1,025,002 423,806 - 423,806 - -
Education 1,825,000 - - - (1,825,000) - (1,825,000) - -
Health and welfare 97,091 2,999 85,531 - (8,561) - (8,561) - -
Interest on long-term debt 63,175 - - - (63,175) - (63,175) - -
Passthrough grants 3,423,715 - - 3,423,715 - - - - -
Total governmental activities 14,492,327 670,200 682,455 4,484,478 (8,655,194) - (8,655,194) - -
Business-type activities:
Conference center 64,782 17,712 - - - (47,070) (47,070) - -
Sanitation 1,024,229 806,638 - - - (217,591) (217,591) - -
Total business-type activities 1,089,011 824,350 - - - (264,661) (264,661) - -
Total primary government $ 15,581,338 § 1,494550 §$ 682,455 § 4,484,478 (8,655,194) (264,661) (8,919,855) $ - $ -
Component units: ’ :
School system $ 16224675 §$§ 550,565 $§ 4379420 $ - $ (11,294,690) -
Public utilities 58,688,021 61,441,200 - 1,166,620 - 3,919,799
Total component units $ 74912,696 $ 61,991,765 $§ 4379420 $ 1,166,620 (11,294,690) 3,919,799
General revenues:
Property taxes 4,433,632 - 4,433,632 1,877,991 -
Local sales tax 3,599,822 - 3,599,822 - -
" In lieu of taxes 985,412 - 985,412 - -
Gross receipts tax 121,861 - 121,861 - -
Wholesale beer tax 489,083 - 489,083 - -
Other local taxes 535,722 - 535,722 - -
Intergovernmental revenues not restricted to specific programs 1,110,439 - 1,110,439 9,453,604 -
Investment income 91,129 4,763 95,892 77,346 280,471
Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets (4,264) 34,040 29,776 (3,477) (22,798)
Insurance proceeds 35,539 - 35,539 - -
Miscellaneous 49,260 5,985 55,245 76,313 -
Transfer (195,000) 195,000 - - -
Total general revenues and special item 11,252,635 239,788 11,492,423 11,481,777 257,673
Change in net assets 2,597,441 (24,873) 2,572,568 187,087 4,177,472
Net assets, beginning of year 22,637,061 2,512,715 25,149,776 10,028,374 79,114,719
Net assets, end of year $ 25234502 $§ 2,487,842 $§ 27,722,344 $ 10,215,461 $ 83,292,191

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.




CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE

BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2010
Capital
Projects Fund ~ Nonmajor Total
Debt Capital Governmental Governmental
General Service Improvement Funds Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 633,481 $ 143,146 $ 57,556 $ 79,565 $ 913,748
Investments 6,318,686 3,256,970 3,644,568 250,101 13,470,325
Property taxes receivable,
less allowance of $71,937 4,850,662 - - - 4,850,662
Due from other governments 1,178,201 - 2,463,369 16,700 3,658,270
Interfund receivables 395,743 - - - 395,743
Other receivables 50,144 - - - 50,144
Inventories 108,098 - - - 108,098
Total assets $13,535,015 $3,400,116 $6,165,493 $ 346,366 $23,446,990
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 215846 $ - $ 227,447 $ - $ 443,293
Accrued payroll and withholdings 145,218 - - - 145,218
Due to component units 349,940 - 1,759,715 - 2,109,655
Deferred revenues 4,889,957 - - - 4,889,957
Total liabilities 5,600,961 - 1,987,162 - 7,588,123
FUND BALANCES
Reserved for debt service - 3,400,116 - - 3,400,116
Reserved 288,287 - - 144,596 432,883
Unreserved, undesignated
reported in nonmajor 7,645,767 - 4,178,331 - 11,824,098
Special revenue fund - - - 182,621 182,621
Capital projects fund , - - - 19,149 19,149
Total fund balances 7,934,054 3,400,116 4,178,331 346,366 15,858,867
Total liabilities and fund balances  $13,535,015 $3,400,116  $6,165,493 $ 346,366 $23,446,990

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
BALANCE SHEET TO THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
June 30, 2010

Total fund balances

Amounts for governmental activities in the statement of net
assets are different because:

Capital assets and related accumulated depreciation are not
financial resources or uses and not reported in the funds.

Capital assets
Accumulated depreciation

Certain property taxes and intergovernmental revenues are not
available to pay for current period expenditures and therefore
are deferred in the funds.

Property taxes
Intergovernmental revenue

Prepaid pension obligations are not current financial resources
and are not reported in the funds.

Certain liabilities are not considered a use of current financial
resources in the funds.

Bonds and notes payable
Compensated absences

Debt issue costs are amortized in the statement of net assets
but are considered a current financial use in the funds.

Debt issue costs
Accumulated amortization

An internal service fund is used by management to charge the
cost of fleet management to individual funds. The assets and
liabilities of the internal service fund are included in
governmental activities in the statement of net assets.

Cash

Investments

Capital assets
Accumulated depreciation
Accounts payable

Net assets

$ 19,045,395

(8,507,928)

322,274
57,500

~

5,900,000

252,081

31,500

(13,475)

79,665
1,889,569
3,939,459

(2,266,554)

(2,760)

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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$ 15,858,867

10,537,467

379,774

953,071

(6,152,081)

18,025

3,639,379

$ 25,234,502



CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Year Ended June 30, 2010
Capital
Projects Fund  Nonmajor Total
Debt Capital Governmental Governmental
General Service Improvement Funds Funds
REVENUES
Property taxes $4,374,413 $ - $ - $ - $ 4,374,413
Other local taxes 5,731,900 - - - 5,731,900
Intergovernmental 1,834,493 140,054 4,484,478 - 6,459,025
Charges for services 177,411 - - 2,175 179,586
Fines and forfeitures 446,004 - - 44,609 490,613
Investment and interest income 36,597 13,924 16,222 13,994 80,737
Miscellaneous 38,602 9,885 773 - 49,260
Total revenues 12,639,420 163,863 4,501,473 60,778 17,365,534
EXPENDITURES
Current:
General government 2,339,869 - - - 2,339,869
Public safety 4,217,987 - - 92,598 4,310,585
Highways and streets 1,669,242 - - - 1,669,242
Culture and recreation 776,659 - - - 776,659
Education 1,825,000 - - - 1,825,000
Health and welfare 100,491 - - - 100,491
Debt service:
Principal - 605,300 - - 605,300
Interest - 63,175 - - 63,175
Capital outlay - - 4,564,530 - 4,564,530
Total expenditures 10,929,248 668,475 4,564,530 92,598 16,254,851
REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES 1,710,172 (504,612) (63,057) (31,820) 1,110,683
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers (1,790,000) 790,000 1,000,000 - -
Insurance proceeds 1,109 - - 34,430 35,539
Sale of capital assets 1,883 - - 1,286 3,169
Total other financing sources (uses) (1,787,008) 790,000 1,000,000 35,716 38,708
‘NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES (76,836) 285,388 936,943 3,896 1,149,391
FUND BALANCES, beginning of year 8,010,890 3,114,728 3,241,388 342,470 14,709,476
FUND BALANCES, end of year $7,934,054  $3,400,116  $4,178,331  § 346,366  $15,858,867

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year Ended June 30, 2010

Net change in fund balances

Amounts for governmental activities included in the statement of
activities are different because:

Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the period for which
they are levied in the statement of activities while funds recognize
revenue when collected and available.

Current year levy $ 4,433,632
Fund revenue recognized 4,374,413)

Intergovernmental revenues that do not provide current financial
resources are not reported as revenue in the funds.

State beer tax-full accrual 6,408
State income tax-full accrual 79,060
Collected fund revenue (127,068)

Repayments from a component unit due under the school
renovation agreement are recognized as revenue in the funds.
The receipts are recorded against the receivable balance in the
statement of net assets.

Funds report capital outlays as expenditures. Asset cost is
capitalized and allocated over the estimated useful lives as
depreciation expense in the statement of activities.

Capital asset expenditures in the current period 1,606,900
Net book value of capital assets retired (554)
Less current year depreciation (803,608)

The change in value of the net pension obligation is recorded as
an expense in the statement of activities.

Internal service fund is used by management to charge the cost of
fleet management to individual funds. The change in net assets of
the internal service fund is reported with governmental activities.
Funds report proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt as
financing sources and the related liabilities as expenditures when
paid; but the proceeds and payments are recorded through a
liability in the statement of net assets.

Bonds and notes payable payments 605,300
Net change in compensated absences (5,409)

Debt issue costs are amortized over the life of the debt in the
statement of activities and expended when incurred in the funds.

Change in net assets

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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$ 1,149,391

59,219

(41,600)

(140,054)

802,738

164,658

5,298

599,891

(2,100)

§ 2,597,441



CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2010
Variance
Budget With Final
Original Final Actual Budget
REVENUES
PROPERTY TAXES
Property taxes-current $4,100,000 $4,100,000 $4,084,711 $ (15,289
Property taxes-prior 120,000 120,000 145,340 25,340
Property taxes-delinquent 40,000 40,000 56,710 16,710
Public utilities taxes 90,000 90,000 87,652 (2,348)
Total property taxes 4,350,000 4,350,000 4,374,413 24,413
OTHER LOCAL TAXES
Penalty and interest on property
tax-prior 15,000 15,000 24,753 9,753
Penalty and interest on property
tax-current 15,000 15,000 22,541 7,541
In lieu of taxes 956,000 956,000 985,411 29,411
TVA impact 32,000 32,000 37,781 5,781
Local sales tax 3,614,600 3,614,600 3,599,822 (14,778)
Wholesale beer tax 480,000 480,000 489,083 9,083
Minimum business tax 13,000 13,000 7,839 (5,161)
Cable TV franchise tax 138,000 138,000 144,908 6,908
Gross receipts tax 640,000 640,000 121,861 (518,139)
Business license fee - - 875 875
Business tax - state clerk fee - - 21,512 21,512
Business tax - state collected - - 274,964 274,964
Transient fees - - 550 550
Total other local taxes 5,903,600 5,903,600 5,731,900 (171,700)
INTERGOVERNMENTAL
State sales tax 880,000 880,000 853,860 (26,140)
State beer tax 7,000 7,000 6,508 (492)
State income tax 100,000 133,500 120,560 (12,940)
State gas and motor fuel tax 350,000 350,000 353,879 3,879
State gasoline inspection tax 29,000 29,000 28,633 (367)
State mixed drink tax 50,000 50,000 47,464 (2,536)
State excise tax 83,000 83,000 95,013 12,013
State law/fire grants 13,200 13,200 26,400 13,200
Reimbursement-other government
agencies : 65,000 65,000 84,845 19,845
Highway maintenance reimbursement 10,000 10,000 14,866 4,866
Police grants - 120,300 120,108 (192)
Other grant funds 16,000 81,700 82,357 657
Total intergovernmental 1,603,200 1,822,700 1,834,493 11,793

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.

(continued)
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND

CHARGES FOR SERVICES
Utility damage reimbursement
Animal control
Grave opening
Recreation fees
Building permits
Clerks fees
Recreation concessions

Total charges for services

FINES AND FORFEITURES
Court fines
Law enforcement forfeitures

Total fines and forfeitures
INTEREST
MISCELLANEOUS

Total revenues

"EXPENDITURES

: GENERAL GOVERNMENT
Administrative:
City Manager's Office
City Council
City Judge
City Attorney
Special appropriations
Athens Utilities Board
Finance
Personnel
Administrative services:
Administration
City Hall
Community development:
Administration
Codes enforcement
Cemeteries

Total general government

Year Ended June 30,2010
(continued)
Variance
Budget With Final
Original Final Actual Budget
$ 16,000 $ 16,000 $ 10,365 $ (5,635
3,000 3,000 2,999 )
25,000 25,000 19,150 (5,850)
92,500 92,500 79,826 (12,674)
60,000 60,000 34,130 (25,870)
5,000 5,000 3,150 (1,850)
45,000 45,000 27,791 (17,209)
246,500 246,500 177,411 (69,089)
420,000 420,000 441,479 21,479
. - 4,525 4,525
420,000 420,000 446,004 26,004
90,800 90,800 36,597 (54,203)
43,500 51,500 38,602 (12,898)
12,657,600 12,885,100 12,639,420 (245,680)
287,300 287,300 224,674 62,626
50,300 50,300 42,217 8,083
17,500 17,500 13,716 3,784
17,700 27,700 24,017 3,683
316,800 321,800 321,627 173
500,000 500,000 473,786 26,214
696,400 696,400 454,871 241,529
176,600 176,600 154,166 22,434
109,100 109,400 72,819 36,581
177,300 193,800 181,327 12,473
127,200 127,300 119,746 7,554
156,000 221,700 205,863 15,837
60,200 60,200 51,040 9,160
2,692,400 2,790,000 2,339,869 450,131

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.

(continued)
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND

PUBLIC SAFETY

Police:
Administration
Patrol
Detective

Fire:
Administration
Prevention
Suppression

Administrative services:
Communications

Total public safety

HIGHWAYS AND STREETS
Public Works: .

Administration

Traffic control

Street maintenance

Street construction

Street cleaning

City garage

Total highways and streets

CULTURE AND RECREATION
Parks and Recreation:
Administration
Maintenance
Swimming pools
Program planning

Total culture and recreation

EDUCATION
Athens City Schools

HEALTH AND WELFARE

Public Works:
Animal control

Total expenditures

REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES

-Year Ended June 30, 2010
(continued)
Variance
Budget With Final
Original Final Actual Budget
$ 279,600 $ 304,600 $ 282,107 $ 22493
1,724,400 1,825,800 1,748,157 77,643
206,000 211,000 206,456 4,544
109,200 109,200 103,331 5,869
95,900 95,900 93,970 1,930
1,496,900 1,496,900 1,398,794 98,106
465,700 468,100 385,172 82,928
4,377,700 4,511,500 4,217,987 293,513
198,200 198,200 166,584 31,616
161,500 161,500 145,479 16,021
406,000 406,000 300,621 105,379
336,300 338,800 269,313 69,487
606,200 606,200 555,972 - 50,228
257,800 257,800 231,273 26,527
1,966,000 1,968,500 1,669,242 299,258
180,100 180,100 161,854 18,246
442,800 450,500 384,906 65,594
33,600 36,100 31,582 4,518
246,800 246,800 198,317 48,483
903,300 913,500 776,659 136,841
1,825,000 1,825,000 1,825,000 -
103,200 103,200 100,491 2,709
11,867,600 12,111,700 10,929,248 1,182,452
790,000 773,400 1,710,172 936,772

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.

(continued)
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND

Year Ended June 30,2010
(continued)
Variance
Budget With Final
Original Final Actual Budget
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Insurance proceeds $ - $ - $ 1,109 $ 1,109
Transfer to debt service fund (790,000) (790,000) (790,000) -
Transfer to capital projects fund - (1,000,000) (1,000,000) -
Sale of capital assets - - 1,883 1,883
Total other financing sources (uses) (790,000) (1,790,000) (1,787,008) 2,992
Net change in fund balance - (1,016,600) (76,836) 939,764
FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 8,010,890 8,010,890 8,010,890 -
FUND BALANCE, end of year $8,010,890 $6,994290 $7,934,054 $ 939,764

1. The basis of budgeting for the City of Athens is based upon generally accepted accounting principles.

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
BALANCE SHEET
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
June 30, 2010

Governmental
Activities
Business-Type Activities-Enterprise Funds Internal
Conference Service
Center Sanitation Total Fund
ASSETS ~
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,233 $ 345,425 $ 346,658 $ 79,665
Investments 1,298 923,652 924,950 1,889,569
Accounts receivable 975 23,095 24,070 -
Due from component units - 67,144 67,144 -
Total current assets 3,506 1,359,316 1,362,822 1,969,234
Capital assets:
Land 34,500 - 34,500 -
Other capital assets, net 1,063,377 451,036 1,514,413 1,672,905
Total capital assets 1,097,877 451,036 1,548,913 1,672,905
Total assets $ 1,101,383 $1,810,352 $ 2,911,735 $ 3,642,139
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 60 $ 22564 § 22,624 $ 2,760
Accrued payroll and withholdings 182 5,344 5,526 -
Interfund payable - 395,743 395,743 -
Total current liabilities 242 423,651 423,893 2,760
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets 1,097,877 451,036 1,548,913 1,672,905
Unrestricted 3,264 935,665 938,929 1,966,474
Total net assets 1,101,141 1,386,701 2,487,842 3,639,379
Total liabilities and net assets $ 1,101,383 $1,810,352 $ 2,911,735 $ 3,642,139

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.

-13 -



CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS

OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for services
Rental income
Miscellaneous

Total operating revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES

Salaries and employee benefits
Operation

Maintenance

Depreciation

Landfill services

Total operating expenses
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

NONOPERATING REVENUES

Transfers
Interest income
Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets

Total nonoperating revenues

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

NET ASSETS, beginning of year

NET ASSETS, end of year

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Year Ended June 30, 2010
Governmental
Activities
Business-Type Activities-Enterprise Funds Internal
Conference Service
Center Sanitation Total Fund
$ - $ 806,638 $ 806,638 $ 411,000
17,712 - - 17,712 -
- 5,985 5,985 -
17,712 812,623 830,335 411,000
5,636 291,185 296,821 -
8,387 483,242 491,629 -
179 6,978 7,157 -
50,580 82,114 132,694 214,216
- 160,710 160,710 -
64,782 1,024,229 1,089,011 214,216
(47,070) (211,606) (258,676) 196,784
- 195,000 195,000 (195,000)
- 4,763 4,763 10,392
- 34,040 34,040 (6,878)
- 233,803 233,803 (191,486)
(47,070) 22,197 (24,873) 5,298
1,148,211 1,364,504 2,512,715 3,634,081

$ 1,101,141 $1,386,701 $ 2,487,842 $ 3,639,379

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Year Ended June 30, 2010

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers
Payments to employees

Payments to suppliers and vendors
Other receipts

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfer for purchase of capital assets
Interfund loan
Repayments of interfund loan

Proceeds from the sale of capital assets
Purchase of capital assets

Net cash provided by (used in) capital
and related financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment and interest earnings
Purchase of investments

Net cash used in investing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:
Operating income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Net cash provided by (used in)
_ operating activities

Governmental
Activities
Business-Type Activities-Enterprise Funds Internal
Conference Service
Center Sanitation Total Fund
$ 16,737 $ 803,513 $ 820,250 $ 411,000
(5,350) (190,535) (195,885) -
(8,949) (744,913) (753,862) 2,098
- 2,145 2,145 -
2,438 (129,790) (127,352) 413,098
- 195,000 195,000 (195,000)
- 418,500 418,500 -
- (22,757) (22,757) -
- 34,040 34,040 7,975
- (308,190) (308,190) (71,362)
- 316,593 316,593 (258,387)
- 4,763 4,763 25,888
(1,285) (83,165) (84,450) (611,202)
(1,285) (78,402) (79,687) (585,314)
1,153 108,401 109,554 (430,603)
80 237,024 237,104 510,268
$ 1,233 $ 345,425 $ 346,658 $ 79,665
$ (47,070) $ (211,606) $ (258,676) $ 196,784
50,580 82,114 132,694 214,216
975) (6,965) (7,940) -
97) 6,667 6,570 2,098
$ 2,438 $ (129,790) $ (127,352) $ 413,098

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
ATHENS PENSION TRUST FUND
FIDUCIARY FUND

June 30, 2010
ASSETS
Interest receivable $ 15,154
Investments, at fair value:
U.S. government and agency securities 1,367,926
Foreign stocks 62,679
Corporate bonds 189,285
Common stock 1,451,450
Mutual funds 3,810,195
Money market funds 99,826
Total investments 6,981,361
Total assets $ 6,996,515
NET ASSETS
Net assets held in trust for pension benefits $ 6,996,515

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
ATHENS PENSION TRUST FUND
FIDUCIARY FUND

Year Ended June 30, 2010
ADDITIONS
Employer contributions $ 700,000
Net investment income:
Interest and dividend income 196,646
Net appreciation in the fair value of investments 450,443
Total additions ' 1,347,089
DEDUCTIONS
Benefits paid 492,015
Administrative expenses 36,347
Total deductions 528,362

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS HELD IN TRUST FOR

PENSION BENEFITS 818,727
NET ASSETS, held in trust for pension benefits, beginning of year 6,177,788
NET ASSETS, held in trust for pension benefits, end of year $ 6,996,515

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2010

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The City of Athens, Tennessee (the City) was incorporated on March 25, 1891, by an act of the
legislature of the Tennessee General Assembly. The City operates under the Council-Manager
form of government as authorized under Chapter 455 of the Private Acts of 1953.

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 34, "Basic Financial Statements — and Management's
Discussion and Analysis — for State and Local Governments", the basic financial statements
include both government-wide and fund financial statements. '

The government-wide financial statements consist of the Statement of Net Assets and the
Statement of Activities which are presented on a full accrual basis of accounting. The City's
funds are reported as governmental activities or business-type activities. Fund financial
statements are presented on a modified accrual basis of accounting for governmental activities
and present information by individual major funds. Nonmajor funds are presented in total in one
column.

The financial statements of the City have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles as applied to governmental units. The City applies all relevant
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements. The more significant
accounting policies used by the City are described below.

A. Financial Reporting Entity

As required by generally accepted accounting principles, these financial statements present
the City of Athens, Tennessee (the primary government) and its component units. The
component units are presented in a separate column in the government-wide financial
statements to emphasize their separate legal status from the primary government. The
component units discussed below are included in the City's reporting entity because of the
significance of their operational or financial relationships with the City. Their inclusion in
the City's reporting entity is based upon criteria provided by Section 2100 of Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Codification of Governmental Accounting and

Financial Reporting Standards, including whether:

e the organization is legally separate (can sue and be sued in their own name)
o the City holds the corporate powers of the organization
| o the City appoints a voting majority of the organization's board
e the City is able to impose its will on the organization
o the organization has the potential to impose a financial benefit/burden on the City

e there is fiscal dependency by the organization on the City
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2010
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
A. Financial Reporting Entity (continued)

Component Units:

Athens Utilities Board

The Athens Utilities Board (Utilities Board) provides power, water, gas and sewer services to
residential, commercial and industrial customers located in Athens, Tennessee and
surrounding areas. The Utilities Board is governed by a five-member commission appointed
by the City Council. The City Council has authority over the Utilities Board and prescribes
the rules and regulations with which the Utilities Board must comply. The Utilities Board
reports as four separate accounting and reporting entities presenting divisional financial
statements on its business-type activities in accordance with enterprise fund accounting
requirements. Complete financial statements may be obtained at the Utilities Board's
administrative office at Athens Utilities Board, 100 New Englewood Road, Athens,
Tennessee.

Athens City Board of Education

The Athens City Board of Education (Board of Education) is responsible for elementary
education within the government's jurisdiction. The Board of Education consists of six
publicly elected officials who appoint the Director of Schools. However, the Board of
Education is fiscally dependent upon the City because the City Council approves the annual

- budget, levies taxes (if necessary), and must approve any debt issues. The Board of
Education's activity is presented within the government-wide financial statements. Complete
financial statements may be obtained at the Board of Education's administrative office at
Athens City Schools, 943 Crestway Drive, Athens, Tennessee.

Other Related Organizations:

Athens Housing Authority

The Athens Housing Authority Board consists of five members appointed by the Mayor.
The Department of Housing and Urban Development subsidizes Housing Authority
operations and sets rates charged for housing. The debts of the Housing Authority are not
secured by the City and deficits are not financed by the City.
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2010
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
A. Financial Reporting Entity (continued)

Other Related Organizations: (continued)

McMinn County Economic Development Authority

This independent corporation is governed by a twenty-member board, only one of which is a
City official. The activities of the Economic Development Authority include industrial
recruitment, assistance in expansion of existing industries, and development of industrial
parks. The Authority has the power to issue its own debt.

E. G. Fisher Public Library

The City of Athens and McMinn County participate in the joint operation of E. G. Fisher
Public Library. The McMinn County Library Board is responsible for administering the
joint library. This Board consists of seven members, of which four are appointed by the
County Commission and three are appointed by the City Council. The Board directs all the
internal affairs of the library, and such assistants or employees as may be necessary.

Athens Health and Education Facilities Board

The Athens Health and Education Facilities Board's activities include acquiring, owning,
leasing and disposing of property as well as issuing bonds to promote higher education and
health in Athens. The City is not liable for the debt of the Health and Education Facilities
Board nor does the City finance their deficits. The Board is directed by volunteer Board
members appointed by the City.

B. Basic Financial Statements, Presentation, Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus
Government-wide Financial Statements:

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net assets and the statement
of activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the City. Asa
general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from these statements.
Activity which represents services provided or used are not eliminated in the government-
wide statements. The statements distinguish between governmental and business-type
activities. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental
revenues, and other nonexchange revenues. Business-type activities rely to a significant
extent on fees and charges for services.
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2010

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

B. Basic Financial Statements, Presentation, Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus
(continued)

Government-wide Financial Statements: (continued)

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. This means that revenues are
recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of
the timing of the related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year
for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

In applying the "susceptible to accrual" concept to intergovernmental revenues pursuant to
GASB Statement No. 33, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange
Transactions" (the City may act as either provider or recipient), the provider should
recognize liabilities and expenses and the recipient should recognize receivables and
revenues when the applicable eligibility requirements including time requirements, are met.
Resources transmitted before the eligibility requirements are met should be reported as
advances by the provider and deferred revenue by the recipient. Certain nonexchange
transactions where revenues are collected by other governments are not recognized in the
statement of activities because they are not measurable at year end. The statement of
activities reflects these transactions (bank excise tax and gross receipts tax) on the same basis
as the fund financial statements.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given
function or activity are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are
clearly identifiable with a specific function or activity. The City does not allocate indirect
expenses to functions or activities in the statement of activities. Program revenues include:
(1) charges to individuals who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services, or
privileges provided by a given function and (2) grants and contributions that are restricted to
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or activity. Taxes
and other items not considered program revenues are reported as general revenues. When
both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, the City's policy is to use
restricted resources first.

Fund Financial Statements:
Fund financial statements of the reporting entity are organized into funds, each of which are
considered to be separate accounting entities. Each fund is accounted for by providing a

separate set of self-balancing accounts, which constitute its assets, liabilities, equity,
revenues, and expenditures/expenses.
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2010

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

B. Basic Financial Statements, Presentation, Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus
(continued)

Fund Financial Statements: (continued)

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and
fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial
statements. Major individual governmental funds and major individual proprietary funds are
reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized
as soon as they are both measurable and available. Available means collectible within the
current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period.
For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if they are collected within sixty
days of the end of the current fiscal period.

Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for unmatured
interest on long-term debt, claims, judgments, compensated absences, and pension
expenditures, which are recorded as a fund liability when expected to be paid with
expendable available financial resources.

Property taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal period
are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the
current fiscal period. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available
only when cash is received by the government.

State and federal funding is recognized as revenue in the period the City is entitled to the
resources and the amounts are available. Reimbursements from expenditure-driven
programs are recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have been incurred
and the amounts are available. For governmental fund financial statements, deferred
revenues arise when a potential revenue does not meet both the "measurable" and "available"
criteria for recognition in the current period. Deferred revenues also arise when resources
are received before the City has a legal claim to them, as when grant monies are received
prior to the incurrence of qualifying expenditures. In subsequent periods, when both revenue
recognition criteria are met, or when the City has a legal claim to the resources, the deferred
revenue liability is removed and revenue is recognized.

Proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, similar to the government-wide
statements described above. The internal service fund of the City and the City's two
enterprise funds are included in the proprietary fund financial statements. Since the
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2010

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

B. Basic Financial Statements, Presentation, Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus
(continued)

Fund Financial Statements: (continued)

principal users of the internal services are the City's governmental activities, financial
statements of the internal service funds are consolidated into the governmental column when
presented at the government-wide level. Proprietary funds report activity and transactions as
operating if the transaction constitutes activity that is the funds' principal ongoing operations.
Activity not pertaining to the funds' ongoing operations are reported as nonoperating.
Enterprise funds apply Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) pronouncements and
Accounting Principles Board (APB) opinions issued on or before November 30, 1989, unless
those pronouncements conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements, in which case,
GASB prevails. Enterprise funds do not apply FASB pronouncements issued subsequent to
November 30, 1989.

Fiduciary funds are used to report assets held in a trustee or agency capacity for others and
therefore are not available to support City programs. The reporting focus is on net assets and
changes in net assets and employs accounting principles similar to proprietary funds. The
City's fiduciary fund is presented in the fund financial statements. Since by definition these
assets are being held for the benefit of a third party and cannot be used to finance activities
or obligations of the government, these funds are not incorporated into the government-wide

statements.

Governmental Funds:

The measurement focus of governmental funds is based upon determination of financial
position and changes in financial position (sources, uses and balances of financial resources)
-rather than upon net income determination. These funds are maintained on the modified
accrual basis of accounting. The following are the City's governmental fund types:

General Fund: The General Fund is the principal fund of the City and is used to account
for the financial resources of the City which are not accounted for in other funds. The
principal sources of revenues are taxes and state-shared revenue. Primary expenditures
are for public safety, education and general administration.

Special Revenue Fund: The Special Revenue Fund is used to account for the proceeds of

specific revenues which are legally restricted to finance specific functions or activities of
the government and which, therefore, cannot be diverted to other uses.
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30,2010

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

B. Basic Financial Statements, Presentation, Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus
(continued)

Fund Financial Statements: (continued)

Governmental Funds: (continued)

Drug Fund: This fund was established expressly to account for financial activities
related to drug revenues and expenditures. This includes revenues for drug fines and
forfeitures and expenditures for drug enforcement, education and treatment.

Capital Projects Fund: Resources designated for the construction or acquisition of major
capital assets are accounted for in this fund. Revenues are derived primarily from capital
grants and investment income.

Capital Improvement Fund: This fund is used to account for large capital projects as
designated by City Council.

General Obligation Bond Fund: This fund was established in fiscal year 1989 to
account for the proceeds of a bond issue for the construction of public works and
recreation projects.

Permanent Fund: The Permanent Fund is used to account for resources that are restricted
to the extent that only earnings, and not principal, may be used for purposes that support
a specific government program.

Cemetery Perpetual Care Fund: This trust fund was established to provide for future
maintenance of the City's cemeteries.

Debt Service Fund: This fund accounts for the payment of principal and interest on the
City's general obligation long-term debt.

Proprietary Funds:(

Proprietary funds include the Internal Service Fund and Enterprise Funds. The measurement
focus is upon determination of net income, financial position, and changes in financial
position. The generally accepted accounting principles used are those applicable to similar
businesses in the private sector and, accordingly, these funds are maintained on the accrual
basis of accounting. The following are the City's proprietary fund types:
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2010

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

B. Basic Financial Statements, Presentation, Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus
(continued)

Fund Financial Statements: (continued)

Proprietary Funds: (continued)

Internal Service Fund: This fund accounts for operations that provide service to other
departments or agencies of the government, or to other governments, on a cost-
reimbursement basis.

Fleet Management Fund: This fund is used to account for the acquisition and
depreciation of motorized vehicles and equipment used by the City.

Enterprise Funds: These funds account for the acquisition, operations and maintenance
of City facilities and services which are entirely or predominantly self-supporting
through user charges.

Conference Center Fund: This fund was established to provide a facility for
recreational, cultural and educational activities and to promote regional awareness.

Sanitation Fund: This fund was established expressly to account for financial
activities related to the management of solid waste. This includes the collection,
transportation and disposal of industrial, commercial and residential refuse.

Fiduciary Funds:

Fiduciary funds include trust and agency funds. The following is the City's fiduciary fund
type:

Trust Fund: This fund is used to account for assets held by the City in a trustee capacity.

Athens Pension Trust Fund: This fund is used to account for the accumulation of
resources for pension benefit payments to qualified City retirees.

Funds are classified as major funds or nonmajor funds within the statements. An emphasis is
placed on major funds with all nonmajor funds presented in total in one column on the
governmental and proprietary funds financial statements.
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2010

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

B. Basic Financial Statements, Presentation, Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus
(continued)

Fund Financial Statements: (continued)

Fiduciary Funds: (continued)

The City's major governmental funds are the General Fund, Capital Improvement Fund, and
Debt Service Fund. The City's major proprietary funds are the Conference Center Fund and

Sanitation Fund.

C. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial
statements:

1. The City holds budget hearings in April of each year with all department heads
submitting requests. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the

means of financing them.

2. In early May, the City Manager and/or the Director of Finance makes a formal
presentation to the City Council.

3. Prior to July 1, the Council will pass on second reading an ordinance to adopt the budget
and set the tax rate.

4. Management may transfer budgeted amounts between line items within a department;
however, any revision that alters the total expenditures of any department and/or fund

must be approved by the City Council.

5. Formal budgets are adopted for the General Fund, the Debt Service Fund and the Special
Revenue Fund on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP). Budgeted amounts reflected in the accompanying budget and actual comparison
are as originally adopted, unless amended by the City Council. '

6. All appropriations which are not expensed or encumbered lapse at year end.
D. Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting

principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30,2010

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

E.

F,

G.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of demand deposits and certificates of deposit with
original maturities of 90 days or less. In accordance with governmental accounting
standards, certain restricted assets are considered cash equivalents for purposes of the
statements of cash flows.

Investments

Investments are valued at fair value. Legal provisions require that all investments be
properly insured or collateralized with a financial depository. State statutes authorize the
government to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, commercial paper, corporate bonds,
equity securities, repurchase agreements, and pooled investment funds.

Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of supplies and gravesites, valued at weighted average cost,
which approximates market. The cost of inventories is recorded as expenditures/expenses
when consumed rather than when purchased.

Reported inventories in governmental funds are equally offset by a fund balance reserve,
which indicates they are unavailable for appropriation even though they are a component of
reported assets.

Capital Assets

In the government-wide financial statements, capital expenditures are accounted for as
capital assets. Capital assets are defined by the City as assets with an initial individual cost
of more than $1,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. All capital assets are
valued at historical cost, except for donated capital assets which are recorded at their
estimated fair value at the date of donation. The City charges maintenance and repairs,
including the costs of renewals of minor items of property, to maintenance expense accounts.

Capital asset deprecfation is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives as follows:

Vehicles, machinery, and equipment 5-15 years
Furniture and office equipment 5 years
Buildings and improvements 15-40 years
Infrastructure 40 years
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2010

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

H. Capital Assets (continued)

L

J.

In the fund financial statements, the acquisition of capital assets is accounted for as capital
outlay expenditures and depreciation is not reported.

Component Unit - Athens Utilities Board:

The Athens Utilities Board uses group depreciation for many of its assets. Under this
method, assets are aggregated into pools and depreciated over their estimated useful lives. In
group depreciation, depreciation is not accumulated by individual assets; therefore, property
subject to depreciation is retired at its average unit cost. In addition, accumulated
depreciation of the same amount is retired with no gain or loss recognized on the disposal.
Cost of removing retired assets less the salvage value recovered is also charged to
accumulated depreciation.

The composite straight-line depreciation rate, expressed as a percentage of average
depreciable plant, property and equipment, ranged from 2.7 to 3.2 percent in 2010. The
depreciation and amortization in the Utilities Board's statement of revenues, expenses and
changes in net assets does not include depreciation on certain transportation equipment
which is allocated to other expense classifications based on relative usage.

Debt Issue Costs

Debt issue costs are amortized using the straight-line method over the life of the related debt
in the government-wide financial statements. Debt issue costs are accounted for as
expenditures in the governmental fund financial statements when incurred.

Interfund Transactions

During the normal course of the City's operations, transactions occur between individual
funds that are classified as transfers or as receivables/payables in the fund financial
statements. These fund transactions are eliminated in the government-wide financial
statements within the governmental activities column and the business-type activities
column.

K. Long-Term Debt

Bonds and Notes Payable:

General obligation bonds and the notes payable which have been issued to fund capital
projects of the general government and to fund school renovations are to be repaid from tax
revenues of the City.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2010

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

K. Long-Term Debt (continued)

L.

Compensated Absences:

Employees of the City are granted vacation and sick leave in varying amounts based on years
of service. Sick leave is not vested and employees who resign or are dismissed from
employment will lose any accrued sick leave benefits.

Vacation leave is vested and employees who resign or are dismissed from employment are
compensated for unused vacation upon termination. Employees of the City may accrue
vacation leave to a maximum of the leave earned in a one and one-half year period.

Accordingly, the City has accrued a liability for vacation leave which has been earned but
not taken by City employees.

The accounting treatment of long-term debt differs between the government-wide and
governmental fund financial statements. All long-term debt to be repaid from governmental
resources is reported as a liability in the government-wide statements. The fund financial
statements for governmental funds report long-term debt principal and interest payments as

- expenditures and do not reflect a liability.

Net Assets and Fund Balances

Net assets in the government-wide financial statements are classified in three components:

a. Invested in capital assets, net of related debt — Consists of capital assets net of
accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any related debt
that is attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. If
there are unspent debt proceeds, these proceeds are not included in the calculation of
invested in capital assets, net of related debt.

b. Restricted net assets — Consists of net assets with constraints placed on the use either
by 1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of
other governments, or 2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

c. Unrestricted net assets — Consists of all other net assets that do not meet the definition
of restricted or invested in capital assets, net of related debt.
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2010

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

L. Net Assets and Fund Balances (continued)

Fund balances in the fund financial statements are classified as reserved and unreserved, with
unreserved further split between designated and undesignated. Reserved fund balances
represent amounts not available for appropriation or legally restricted by outside parties for
use for a specific purpose.

Encumbrances represent commitments related to unperformed contracts for goods or
services. Encumbrances outstanding at year end are reported as reservations of fund
balances and do not constitute expenditures or liabilities because the commitments will be
honored during the subsequent year. Designated fund balances represent restrictions made
by the City Council for specific purposes that are not legally binding. Undesignated fund
balance amounts represent amounts available for use in future periods.

M. Property Taxes

In the government-wide financial statements, property tax revenues are recognized as
revenue in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. Property taxes are based on the
assessed value of property as of January 1. Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on
the assessment date and are therefore recognized on this date. In October, property taxes are
due and are considered delinquent if not paid before the first day of March. Amounts owed
to the City as of year end, which are not available, are recorded as receivables and deferred
revenue in the fund financial statements.

The City's property tax is levied each October 1 on the assessed value listed as of the prior
January 1 for all real and personal property located in the City. City property tax revenues
are recognized when levied to the extent that they result in current receivables. Taxes not
collected as of March 1 of the following year are considered delinquent and are subject to
lien on March 1 of the succeeding year.

Assessed values are established by the State of Tennessee at the following rates of assumed

market value:
Public Utility Property ' 55% (Railroads 40%)
Industrial and Commercial Property:
Real . 40
Personal 30
Residential Property 25
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2010

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

M. Property Taxes (continued)

The assessed value for the list of January 1, 2009, was $401,031,398 based upon a
reappraisal completed for the list of January 1, 2009. The estimated actual was
$1,251,838,522 making the total assessed value 32.04 percent of the total actual value.

Taxes were levied at a rate of $1.1147 per $100 of assessed value. Current tax collections of
$4,179,963 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, were 94 percent of the 2009 tax levy. An
allowance has been established for delinquent taxes to the extent that their collectability is
improbable. The allowance at June 30, 2010, for the 2009 tax levy was $31,937.

The 2010 taxes were levied at a rate of $1.1147 per $100 of assessed value and have been
recorded as a receivable at June 30, 2010. An allowance for doubtful collection of $40,000
has been estimated and established for this levy at June 30, 2010. There are no current tax

collections related to the 2010 levy.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2010

Note 2. Capital Assets

Primary government capital asset activity for the year is as follows:

Balance Balance
July 1. 2009 Additions Deletions June 30,2010

Governmental Activities
Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings and improvements $ 5,150,639 $ 48978 §$§ - $ 5,199,617
Infrastructure 6,580,297 872,678 — 7,452,975
Furniture and office equipment 1,044,461 55,783 34,587 1,065,657
Machinery and equipment 5.754.829 253.456 78.879 5,929.406
Total capital assets depreciated 18.530.226 1,230,895 113,466 19.647.655
Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements 3,186,158 179,316 - 3,365,474
Infrastructure 2,133,638 162,387 - 2,296,025
Furniture and office equipment 470,374 88,990 27,814 531,550
Machinery and equipment 4.064.495 587.184 70,245 4,581.434
Total accumulated depreciation 9.854.665 1.,017.877 98.059 10.774.483
Net capital assets being depreciated 8.675.561 213,018 15.407 8.873.172
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land 2,563,167 - — 2,563,167
Construction in progress 326,613 760,493 313.073 774,033
Total capital assets not depreciated 2,889,780 760,493 313.073 3.337.200
Net capital assets $ 11565341 § 973.511 §$ 328480 §$ 12210372

Business-Type Activities
Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings and improvements $ 1517930 $ - $ - $ 1,517,930
Furniture and office equipment 29,864 - - 29,864
Machinery and equipment 1,317,228 308.190 152.335 1,473,083
Total capital assets depreciated 2,865.022 308.190 152.335 3,020,877
Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements 403,973 50,580 — 454,553
Furniture and office equipment 29,864 - - 29,864
Machinery and equipment 1,092,268 82.114 152,335 1,022,047
~ Total accumulated depreciation 1,526,105 132,694 152,335 1,506.464
Net capital assets being depreciated 1,338,917 175.496 - 1,514.413
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land 34,500 — — 34,500
Net capital assets $ 1373417 § 17549 § — $ 1548913
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CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Capital Assets (continued)

June 30, 2010

Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:

Governmental Activities

General government $ 185,781
Public safety 376,076
Highways and streets 355,627
Culture and recreation 100,393
$ 1,017.877

Business-Type Activities
Conference Center $ 50,580

Sanitation

Utilities Board:

Capital assets being depreciated:
Plant in service
Equipment and furniture
Transportation equipment

Total depreciable capital assets

Accumulated depreciation:
Plant in service
Equipment and furniture
Transportation equipment

Total accumulated depreciation

Net depreciable capital assets

Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land
Construction in progress

Nondepreciable capital assets
Net capital assets

Depreciation was charged as follows:

Power Division
Water Division

Gas Division
Department of Sewer

82,114

$ 132,694

Component unit capital asset activity for the year is as follows:
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Balance Balance
July 1. 2009 Additions Deletions June 30,2010
$117,151,612 $ 2,200,292 §$ 492985 $118,858,919
4,833,532 255,214 484,216 4,604,530
2.884.582 104,849 124,578 2.864.853
124.869.726 2.560.355 1,101,779 126.328.302
36,266,078 3,600,202 820,937 39,045,343
2,831,158 385,537 217,048 2,999,647
2,068,515 195.940 124,578 2,139.877
41,165,751 4,181,679 1,162,563 44,184,867
83.703.975 (1.621,324) (60.784) 82.143.435
700,402 - - 700,402
4,383,085 5,812,592 2.489.067 7.706,610
5,083.487 5,812,592 2,489.067 8.407.012
$ 88.787.462 $ 4.191.268 §$ 2.428.283 $ 90.550.447
Charged to Total
Depreciation Charged to Depreciation
and Other and
Amortization Accounts Amortization
$ 1,589,164 $ 73,236 $ 1,662,400
670,350 38,357 708,707
434,473 43,594 478,067
1,283.913 46.544 1.330.457
$ 3.977.900 $ 201.731 $ 4.179.631




CITY OF ATHENS, TENNESSEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2010

Note 2. Capital Assets (continued)

Board of Education:
Balance Balance
July 1. 2009 Additions Deletions June 30, 2010

Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings and improvements $ 13,550,762 $ 107,582 $ - $ 13,658,344
Infrastructure 19,350 - - 19,350
Furniture, equipment, and vehicles 2.302,027 208.023 41,887 2,468,163
Total depreciable capital assets 15.872.139 315.605 41.887 16,145.857
Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements 8,000,748 270,575 - 8,271,323
Infrastructure 11,187 967 - 12,154
Furniture, equipment, and vehicles 1,577,139 165.478 38.410 1,704,207
Total accumulated depreciation 9.589.074 437,020 38.410 9.987.684
Net depreciable capital assets 6,283,065 _ (121.415) 3.477 6,158,173
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land 211,146 2.340 — 213,486
Nondepreciable capital assets 211.146 2.340 - 213.486
Net capital assets $ 6494211 § (119.075) $ 3477 $ 6.371.659

Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:

Regular instruction $ 58,788
Administration 12,576
Operation and maintenance 4,419
Transportation 46,341
Food services 44,321
Unallocated depreciation 270.575

$ 437.020

Unallocated depreciation consists of depreciation related to the Board's buildings. Depreciation
has not been allocated because the buildings serve multiple functions.
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Note 3. Long-Term Debt

June 30,2010

All long-term debt of the primary government is related to governmental activities. Primary
government long-term debt activity for the year is as follows:

Note payable to the Public Building
Authority of the City of
Clarksville, Tennessee, Pooled
Loan Program, Series 1995;
adjustable rate pooled financing;
principal due annually, interest
- due monthly through May 2010

Note payable to the Public Building
Authority of the City of
Clarksville, Tennessee, Pooled
Loan Program, Series 2003;
adjustable rate pooled financing;
principal due annually beginning
May 2007, interest due monthly

Compensated absences

Total long-term debt

Due
Balance Balance within
6/30/09 Additions  Payments 6/30/10 one year
$ 505300 $ - $505300 $ - $ -
6,000,000 — 100,000 5,900,000 662,000
246,672 5.409 — 252.081 168,062
$ 6751972 § 5,409 $ 605,300 $ 6,152,081 $830.062

The liability for compensated absences is typically liquidated in the General Fund.

The Series 2003 note payable carries an adjustable interest rate that is determined based on the
market rate of tax exempt variable interest. The rate is adjusted weekly and was 0.44 percent at

June 30, 2010.

The debt service requirements for the notes payable are as follows:

June 30 Principal Interest Total
2011 $ 662,000 $ 26,012 $ 688,012
2012 683,000 23,093 706,093
2013 703,000 20,083 723,083
2014 725,000 16,983 741,983
2015 747,000 13,787 760,787

2016-2018 2.380.000 21,194 2.401.194
Total $ 5,900,000 $ 121.152 $ 6.021.152
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June 30,2010

Note 3. Long-Term Debt (continued)

During 2004, the City authorized the issuance of $6,300,000 of debt through the Tennessee
Municipal Bond Fund to be appropriated to the Athens City Board of Education for school
renovations. As of June 30, 2007, the entire $6,300,000 issuance had been drawn on the debt
issue of which $6,268,500 has been appropriated to the Board of Education and $31,500 has been
disbursed to pay debt issue costs. See Note 6 for further details regarding this debt issue.

Component unit long-term debt activity for the year is as follows:

Utilities Board:
Due
Balance Balance within
6/30/09 Additions Payments 6/30/10 one year
Revenue and tax bonds $§ 2,035,000 §$ 1,414,000 $ 263,684 §$ 3,185316 $§ 286,921
Notes payable 25,732,739 1,280,274 645,976 26,367,037 817,763
TVA advances 458,128 18.336 219.808 256,656 127,636
Total $28.225.867 $ 2,712,610 $ 1.129.468 $29.809.009 $1.232.320

The Power Division and the Department of Sewer revenue bonds are payable from and are
secured by a first pledge of the revenues derived from the operation of the respective systems.
The revenue bonds and the Water Division note payable are collateralized by a statutory lien on
the respective systems.

The Department of Sewer bond documents require that certain restricted reserve funds be
estimated and maintained. At June 30, 2010, the required funds have been segregated into
restricted accounts in the financial statements.

The principal and interest payments on all long-term debt were current as of June 30, 2010.

During 2010, the Board entered an agreement which will provide approximately $4,740,000 for
sewer collection system expansion and sewer line rehabilitation. The agreement was entered into
by the City of Athens, Tennessee and utilizes State Revolving Fund loans and American
Recovery and Reinvestment Act funding. Under the agreement, approximately $1,896,000 of
principal is to b